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, Memorandum 
19 West Flagler Street. Suite 220 • Miami, Florida 33130 

Phone: (305) 375-1946 • Fax: (305) 579-2656 
visit our website at www.miamidadeiq.Q.[g 

To: Honorable Harvey Ruvin, Clerk of the Courts 
Honorable Pedro J. Garcia, Property Appraiser 

From: ristopher Mazzella, Inspector General 

Date: June 3, 2009 

Subject: OIG Final Report Re: Misconduct by Miami-Dade County Employees 
Assigned to the Value Adjustment Board, Assessment of Folio No. 01-3134-051-
0750, Ref. IG09-02 

Attached please fmd the Office of Inspector General (OIG) fmal report regarding the above­
captioned matter. This investigation came at the joint request of Miami-Dade County Clerk 
of the Circuit and County Court (Clerk of the Courts) Harvey Ruvin and Miami-Dade 
County Property Appraiser's Office (Property Appraiser) supervisory personnel. 

The DIG's investigation detertnined that between August 2008 and December 2008, Haydee 
Mayor, an employee of the Clerk of the Courts, and Jesus Garcia, an employee of the 
Property Appraiser, improperly advocated on behalf of property owners before and after a 
Value Adjustment Board (V AB) hearing. In addition, Property Appraiser employees Derick 
Ferrao and Ernesto Canet, and V AB Special Magistrate Manuel Blanco, each engaged in 
conduct that culminated in an inappropriate re-assessment of the property. 

In the draft version of this report, the OIG voiced concerns that the actions of these 
individuals are susceptible to repetition by others in the future. Accordingly, we made 
recommendations in the report to both the Clerk of the Courts and the Property Appraiser 
designed to ensure that such conduct will not be repeated. In response to our 
recommendations, the Property Appraiser did not specifically address our concerns, and the 
Clerk of the Courts did not submit a discretionary response. Accordingly, follow-up reports 
regarding this matter are being required by the OIG. The OIG requests receiving these 
responses on or before August 4, 2009. 

Attachment 

cc: Honorable Carlos Alvarez, Mayor, Miami-Dade County 
Honorable Members, Value Adjustment Board 
Mr. Steven Schultz, Attorney for the Value Adjustment Board 
Mr. Robert Meyers, Executive Director, Miami-Dade Commission on Ethics 

and Public Trust 



.. 

Ms. Haydee Mayor (under separate cover) 
Mr. Jesus Garcia (under separate cover) 
Mr. Derick Ferrao (under separate cover) 
Mr. Ernesto Canet (under separate cover) 
Mr. Manuel Blanco (under separate cover) 
Isro Enterprises, Inc. (the property owner) (under separate cover) 
Clerk of the Board (copy filed) 
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MIAMI-DADE COUNTY OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL 
Final Report Re: Misconduct by Miami-Dade County Employees 

Assigned to the Value Adjustment Board, Assessment of Folio No. 01-3134-051-0750 

INTRODUCTION & SYNOPSIS 

In January 2009, the Miami-Dade County Office of the Inspector General (OIG) began 
an investigation into allegations that an employee of the Miami-Dade County Clerk of 
the Circuit and County Court (Clerk of the Courts) and an employee of the Miami-Dade 
County Property Appraiser's Office (Property Appraiser) may have improperly 
communicated with a Value Adjustment Board (VAB) special magistrate on behalf of 
two Miami commercial property owners (the property owners). This investigation 
came at the joint request of Clerk of the Courts Harvey Ruvin and Property Appraiser 
supervisory personnel. 

On December 5, 2008, the property owners appeared before Special Magistrate Manuel 
Blanco to appeal the 2008 assessed value of their property. (Folio No. 01-3134-051-
0750) After the hearing, Clerk of the Courts clerk Haydee Mayor gave a worksheet, 
which recommended a reduction of approximately $80,000 in the assessed value of the 
property to Derick Ferrao, who represented the Property Appraiser at the hearing. Just 
before Ms. Mayor handed the worksheet to Mr. Ferrao, Property Appraiser Income 
Evaluation Specialist Jesus Garcia, who caused the worksheet to be created, asked Mr. 
Ferrao to hand the worksheet to Special Magistrate Blanco. Later, on the same day, 
Ms. Mayor approached Special Magistrate Blanco and personally advocated for a 
reduction in the assessed value of the property. Immediately thereafter, based upon the 
information contained within the worksheet and the arguments advanced by Ms. 
Mayor, Special Magistrate Blanco lowered the assessed value of the property by 
approximately $80,000, preliminarily resulting in a tax savings by the property owners. 

The investigation determined that in August 2008, Ms. Mayor introduced the property 
owners to Mr. Garcia-rather than directing them to the appropriate Property Appraiser 
staffers-which began a process culminating in an inappropriate re-assessment of the 
property. Mr. Garcia did not document the meeting, in violation of Property Appraiser 
procedures. He also made misrepresentations to colleagues about the assessed value of 
the property, and falsely asserted that he was personally responsible for defending its 
valuation. Ms. Mayor contacted Mr. Garcia in advance of the hearing to determine the 
status of the inspection of the property, met with him on the day of the hearing, and 
assisted him in making copies of the worksheet. 

As a part of the investigation, OIG Special Agents evaluated the procedures pursuant to 
which V AB hearings are conducted. The OIG determined that all V AB hearings are 
videotaped and monitored on a real-time basis to ensure that a public record is made. l 

I Accordingly, OIG Special Agents were able to obtain and review a copy of the videotape provided by the 
V AB for the hearing in question, which revealed both the contact between Mr. Garcia and Mr. Ferrao, and 
the approach to Special Magistrate Blanco made by Ms. Mayor. Ms. Mayor actually asked a V AB clerk to 
tum off the recording equipment before she entered the hearing room but, as discussed below, VAB 
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OIG Special Agents also conducted interviews of the property owners, Ms. Mayor, Mr. 
Garcia, Mr. Canet, Mr. Ferrao, and Special Magistrate Blanco, each of whom 
volunteered to cooperate with the investigation, and each of whom were sworn under 
oath to provide truthful testimony during the course of their interview. 

In response to questioning by OIG Special Agents, Ms. Mayor admitted under oath that she 
steered the property owners to Mr. Garcia, a close friend of hers, but denied that she 
solicited or received anything of value in return. Rather, Ms. Mayor stated that she acted 
on behalf of the property owners because "she was too nice." Ms. Mayor also admitted that 
she contacted Mr. Garcia in an effort to ensure he would assist the property owners. 
Finally, Ms. Mayor admitted that she improperly approached Special Magistrate Blanco 
after first attempting to turn off the video recording function for the hearing room. Ms. 
Mayor acknowledged that her conduct was in violation of her professional duties and 
responsibilities. 

Mr. Garcia was questioned by OIG Special Agents, and admitted under oath that his 
conduct was motivated by his close friendship with Ms. Mayor, but denied receiving 
anything of value in connection with his actions. Mr. Garcia also admitted that he became 
involved in the case even though it had not been assigned to him, contrary to Property 
Appraiser policy. However, Mr. Garcia reiterated that, in his opinion, the property had 
been improperly assessed in 2008. 

Ernesto Canet, a Property Appraiser employee in the position of Real Estate Evaluator II, 
was also questioned by OIG Special Agents as it was he who requested the creation of the 
aforementioned worksheet. Mr. Canet admitted under oath that after Mr. Garcia informed 
him, that in his opinion, the property was assessed at too high a rate, he conducted a "drive­
by" inspection of the property, and then changed the designation for the property, resulting 
in a lower tax assessment. Ml. Canet also admitted that his inspection of the building failed 
to comport with approved Property Appraiser procedures. 

Finally, Mr. Ferrao was questioned by OIG Special Agents, and stated after being 
sworn that both Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia are friends of his, although they do not 
socialize outside of work. He acknowledged that all business is supposed to be 
conducted in front of the parties to the VAB hearing but because the worksheet "was in 
the taxpayers' favor," he did not believe he made a prohibited ex parte communication 
when he gave it to Special Magistrate Blanco after the hearing had been concluded. 

As a further part of the investigation, Special Magistrate Blanco was also interviewed. He 
stated after being sworn that he recalled that on the afternoon after the V AB hearing, Ms. 
Mayor approached him with a copy of the worksheet that had been proffered to him by Mr. 

supervisors had already been alerted to issues of possible impropriety-unbeknownst to Ms. Mayor-and 
ensured that the videotaping continced. 
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Ferrao after the hearing. After reviewing the videotape of his conference with Ms. Mayor, 
Special Magistrate Blanco stated that it was clear to him that Ms. Mayor was advocating on 
behalf of the property owners. Special Magistrate Blanco admitted that it was an error in 
judgment to have listened to Ms. Mayor and to have allowed her to influence him to change 
his initial decision. However, 'with regards to both conversations-with Mr. Ferrao and 
with Ms. Mayor-Special Magistrate Blanco did not consider either to be ex pane in nature 
because Mr. Ferrao approached him "on the record" and because he viewed Ms. Mayor as 
not acting in an official capacity. 

The OIG investigation confirmed between August 2008 and December 2008, Ms. 
Mayor and Mr. Garcia improperly advocated on behalf of the property owners, both 
before and after a V AB hearing, although the investigation uncovered no evidence to 
suggest that either Ms. Mayor or Mr. Garcia acted for pecuniary gain. Ms. Mayor's 
employment has now been terminated by the Clerk of the Courts; Mr. Garcia has been 
relieved of duty with pay by the Property Appraiser pending the completion of its 
review of his conduct; Mr. Ferrao has received counseling from the Property Appraiser 
for his actions; and Special Magistrate Blanco has been suspended from conducting 
V AB hearings pending the completion of its review of his conduct. In addition, at the 
request of the Property Appraiser, Special Magistrate Blanco's initial decision 
regarding the property has been reinstated, thus negating any additional tax benefits or 
other preferential treatment the property owners may have received as a result of the 
conduct of Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia. 

In sum, we conclude that the combined misconduct of Ms. Mayor, Mr. Garcia, and 
others made a farce of the entire V AB hearing process. That misconduct began with 
the circumvention of prescribed Property Appraiser procedures for taxpayer 
conferences; it continued through a woefully inadequate property re-assessment 
process; and it ended with a blatant attempt to lobby for an unsupported tax reduction. 

In the OIG draft report, we recommended that employees of the Clerk of the Court and 
the Property Appraiser be reminded that lobbying and advocating on behalf of V AB 
petitioners is not only violative of standing policy and procedures, it risks 
compromising the integrity of the VAB's quasi-judicial process. The OIG further 
recommended that the Property Appraiser take immediate steps to ensure that all 
appropriate property inspection procedures be followed when re-assessment questions 
are raised, so that only qualified owners benefit from any reduction in taxes. 

The Property Appraiser provided a discretionary response to the draft report, which 
stated that his office has completed counseling and taken appropriate disciplinary 
actions with his staff, but was not specific as to what actions were taken, and did not 
address our recommendations. Accordingly, the OIG is requesting follow-up reports to 
specifically address our areas of concern. 
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DIG JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY 

In accordance with Section 2·1076 of the Code of Miami·Dade County, the Inspector 
General has the authority to make investigations of county affairs and the power to 
review past, present and proposed County and Public Health Trust programs, accounts, 
records, contracts and transactions. The Inspector General is authorized to conduct any 
reviews, audits, inspections, investigations or analyses relating to departments, offices, 
boards, activities, programs and agencies of the County and the Public Health Trust. 
The Inspector General shall have the power to review and investigate any citizen's 
complaints regarding County or Public Health Trust projects, programs, contracts or 
transactions. The Inspector General may exercise any of the powers contained in 
Section 2·1076, upon his or her own initiative. 

The Inspector General shall have the power to require reports from the Mayor, County 
Commissioners, County Manager, County agencies and instrumentalities, County 
officers and employees and the Public Health Trust and its officers and employees 
regarding any matter within the jurisdiction of the Inspector General. 

BACKGROUND 

The Value Adjustment Board 

The V AB is an independent governmental agency created to accept and process 
taxpayers' petitions contesting the value of real estate and personal property as assessed 
by the Property Appraiser. The V AB is composed of three elected officials, 
specifically two Miami·Dade -County Commissioners and one Member of the Miami· 
Dade School Board, and two private citizens.' The Clerk of the Courts provides the 
clerical support required by the V AB. 

1. The V AB Petition Process 

In August of each year, County property owners receive a Notice of Proposed 
Property Taxes, which includes the prior year's taxes, the current year's taxes, 
and the "market" and "assessed" values for the prior and current year. Based 
on the current year information, property owners may file petitions if they feel 
that the proposed assessed value is incorrect. 

Prior to filing a petition, a taxpayer may review the proposed assessment with 
the Property Appraiser at an informal conference. Such conferences are 

2 Since September 2008, the V AB has been comprised of Commissioners Audrey Edmonson and Carlos 
Gimenez, School Board Member Augustin Barrera, and private citizens Arribal Duarte-Viera and Hani 
lardack. 
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discretionary at the taxpayer's request. The Property Appraiser assigns specific 
employees to what it corrunonly refers to as an "interview team" to conduct the 
conferences with taxpayers who question the information contained in the 
proposed property tax notices. In practice, the team consists of a pool of 
employees who are designated to be available to meet with taxpayers and 
informally discuss their individual concerns. Significantly, Mr. Garcia was not 
designated to be a part of that pool of employees. 

2. The VAH Hearing Process 

Hearings on filed petitions are conducted by special magistrates appointed by the 
V AB to determine whether or not the property is properly assessed. If not, then 
the VAB has the authority to make any necessary adjustments. The hearing 
process consists of testimony provided by the taxpayer and a Property Appraiser 
staffer. After hearing the testimony and reviewing any evidence, the special 
magistrate enters his decision into the computer system, which is located in the 
hearing room. The decision is in the form of a recorrunendation to the VAB 
but, in fact, the V AB will not overturn a special magistrate's decision, absent a 
gross misapplication of the law or a denial of due process. 

All V AB hearings are videotaped and monitored on a real-time basis to ensure 
that a public record is made. Pursuant to that procedure, both the December 5'h 
hearing and Ms. Mayor's corrununication with Special Magistrate Blanco later 
that same day were videotaped. 

The Property 

The property in question is a one-story office building located at 721 NW 21" Court, 
Miami, Florida, owned by Isro Enterprises, Inc. (ISRO). The Property Appraiser's 
2008 preliminary assessment for the value of the property was $1,100,063. 

Haydee Mayor 

Ms. Mayor was employed by the Clerk of the Courts beginning in 2000 as a clerk in 
the personnel unit. In 2004, she was assigned to the V AB, where her duties included 
receiving, verifying, and processing VAB petitions and hearing notices; processing 
mail, invoices, requisitions and supply orders; responding to taxpayer inquiries on the 
telephone and in person; and accessing and inputting data in the V AB computer 
systems. Ms. Mayor was terminated from employment in March 2009. 
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Jesus Garcia 

Mr. Garcia has been employed by the Property Appraiser since 1990, where he has 
held various positions induding Real Estate Evaluator I, Real Estate Evaluator II, and 
his current position as Income Evaluation Specialist assigned to the V AB. Mr. Garcia 
has been relieved of duty with pay by the Property Appraiser pending the completion of 
its review of his conduct. 

Ernesto Canet 

Mr. Canet has been employed by the Property Appraiser since 1998, and is currently 
assigned as a Real Estate Evaluator II. As such, he was designated as a "leadworker" 
with supervisory responsibilities. 

Derick Ferrao 

Mr. Ferrao has been employed by the Property Appraiser since 1992, and is currently an 
Income Evaluation Specialist with the VAB. Mr. Ferrao has received counseling from the 
Property Appraiser for his actions in this matter. 

Special Magistrate Manuel Blanco 

Mr. Blanco has been a special magistrate with the V AB since 1993. He works one or 
two days weekly on average, and hears up to 70 cases per day involving both 
commercial and residential properties. Mr. Blanco is also a practicing attorney and 
member of the Florida Bar, and maintains an office in Coral Gables, Florida. Mr. 
Blanco has been suspended from conducting V AB hearings pending the V AB' s review 
of this matter. 

INVESTIGATION 

This investigation was conducted in accordance with the Principles and Standards for 
Offices of Inspector General as promulgated by the Association of Inspectors General. 

During the course of the investigation, OIG Special Agents reviewed numerous 
materials induding, but not limited to, Property Appraiser records, Clerk of the Court 
records, and documents relating to the assessment of the property. In addition, OIG 
Special Agents viewed videotapes and recordings of the V AB hearing and the 
monitoring of other events in the hearing room on December 5, 2008. OIG Special 
Agents also accompanied a Property Appraiser supervisor on a site inspection of the 
property. Finally, the OIG conducted interviews of numerous witnesses induding 
representatives of the Property Appraiser, the Clerk of the Courts, and the VAB, 
induding its attorney. OIG Special Agents also conducted interviews of the property 
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owners, Ms. Mayor, Mr. Garcia, Mr. Canet, Mr. Ferrao, and Special Magistrate 
Blanco, each of whom volunteered to cooperate with the investigation, and each of 
whom were sworn in advance to provide truthful testimony during the course of their 
interview. 3 

The Undocumented Meeting Between the Property Owners and Mr. Garcia 

In late August 2008, at the close of the interview period for taxpayers seeking an 
explanation of their 2008 assessment, Ms. Mayor introduced one of the subject 
property's owners to Mr. Garcia as a friend of hers. The owner complained that the 
2008 assessment for his property was too high. He was requesting that the property be 
inspected and re-assessed. Although Mr. Garcia was not assigned to any of the 
designated interview teams assembled by the Property Appraiser, he went ahead and 
met with the property owner. Thereafter, Mr. Garcia took steps to advocate on the 
property owner's behalf. 

As noted above, Mr. Garcia was not assigned to participate in the interview process, 
yet, in this case, he interceded by meeting with the property owners. While 
presumably beneficial to the property owners, it, in reality, denied the owners their 
right to a discretionary informal conference, in violation of Property Appraiser 
procedures. More significantly, Mr. Garcia's intercession violated Property Appraiser 
procedures, as did his failure to document the meeting. 

The Re-Evaluation of the Property 

After the meeting with Mr. Garcia-in lieu of the informal conference prescribed by 
Property Appraiser procedures-had been conducted, the owners filed a petition with 
the V AB to appeal the assessed value of their property. In November 2008, Mr. 
Garcia signed out the "building jacket" for the property. After reviewing the building 
jacket, Mr. Garcia contacted Mr. Canet and represented that he was responsible for the 
case. Specifically, Mr. Garcia falsely maintained-in Property Appraiser argot-that 
the property was "on his board.,,4 Mr. Garcia then advised Mr. Canet that the property 
had to be re-evaluated because the structure on the property had been inaccurately 
described as an office building when it was more akin to "mixed-use/stores." 

Mr. Garcia's actions caused Mr. Canet to inspect the property, re-evaluate it, and 
change its building designation to mixed-use/stores. In that regard, a worksheet was 

3 Ms. Mayor, Mr. Garcia, Mr. Canet, and Mr. Ferrao each executed an DIG County Employee Interview 
Acknowledgement form, which advised them of certain rights, including the right to refuse to participate in 
the interview without risking disciplinary repercussions; the right to have a lawyer present for the 
interview; and the right to terminate the interview at any time. 
4 In fact, Folio No. 01-3134-051-0750, the subject property, was assigned to Mr. Ferrao's board. 
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prepared by the staff at the request of Mr. Canet, which, as discussed below, was 
handed to Special Magistrate Blanco after the V AB hearing took place. The worksheet 
recommended a reduction in the assessed value of the building located on tbe property 
from $574,063 to $493,424. (Exhibit 1) 

During the course of the investigation, the OIG learned from Property Appraiser 
supervisory personnel that the inspection did not comport with standard procedures, 
because Mr. Canet, the assigned real estate evaluator, failed to conduct an on-site 
inspection of the building. Such an inspection would have confirmed that the office 
building designation of the structure was, in fact, correct, thus precluding tbe creation 
of the worksheet and the reduction in the assessed building value it identified. 

Pursuant to Property Appraiser procedures, a proper inspection requires that the real 
estate evaluator visit the site and observe tbe usage of the businesses operating in the 
building. A drive-by inspection of commercial property-which was tbe only 
inspection Mr. Canet conducted-is only deemed appropriate when the building is still 
under construction and, thus, not yet occupied. Had Mr. Canet conducted a proper 
inspection, he would have observed that tbe building on the property was clearly used 
as office space and that there were no retail businesses on the premises. In other 
words, had a proper on-site inspection been conducted, there would have been no 
change in tbe property's designation and no reason to create tbe aforementioned 
worksheet. 

Approximately two weeks before the VAB hearing. Mr. Garcia met with Mr. Ferrao to 
discuss tbe property, which was assigned to Mr. Ferrao's board. Mr. Garcia told him 
that the Property Appraiser intended to re-assess the property for tbe 2009 tax year. 
Mr. Garcia handed him the worksheet. That worksheet dated for 2008 was considered 
to be irrelevant by Mr. Ferrao since he believed tbat he could defend the assessed value 
of the property based on comparable sales. 

The VAB Hearing 

On December 5, 2008, the property owners appeared before Special Magistrate Manuel 
Blanco in V AB Hearing Room C to appeal the 2008 assessed value of their property. 
Ms. Mayor was observed by a colleague loitering in the area of Hearing Room C when, 
in fact, she was assigned to Bearing Room A. Ms. Mayor's colleague deemed her 
actions suspicious and reported them to a supervisor. V AB supervisory personnel then 
observed the hearing in real-time on a video monitor, as it was being recorded, and 
watched Ms. Mayor enter and exit Hearing Room C. 

After the hearing was conducted, Mr. Garcia approached Mr. Ferrao, the assigned 
Property Appraiser's representative for those cases being heard in Hearing Room C, 
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and asked if he had presented the worksheet to Special Magistrate Blanco. After Mr. 
Ferrao advised Mr. Garcia that he had not, Mr. Garcia convinced him that the 
worksheet was relevant to 2008, so that Mr. Ferrao was obligated to provide it to 
Special Magistrate Blanco. Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia made a copy of the worksheet 
and Ms. Mayor entered Hearing Room C, and gave it to Mr. Ferrao. Mr. Ferrao then 
presented the worksheet to Special Magistrate Blanco, and told him that the Property 
Appraiser was going to change the assessed value of the property for 2009. Mr. Ferrao 
further stated that the worksheet might or might not be relevant for 2008; that was a 
matter for Special Magistrate Blanco to decide. Special Magistrate Blanco then decided 
that the worksheet was not relevant to his assessment decision. 

At approximately 4:00 pm on the same day, Ms. Mayor asked a VAB clerk to turn off 
the video recording equipment in Hearing Room C. However, Ms. Mayor's request 
was thwarted by V AB supervisors who had already been alerted to issues of possible 
impropriety-unbeknownst to Ms. Mayor-and ensured that the videotaping continued. 
Ms. Mayor then entered the hearing room, began discussing the property owners' case 
with Special Magistrate Blanco, and asked him to accompany her outside the hearing 
room. Within approximately thirty seconds, they re-entered the hearing room, where at 
the conclusion of further discussion about the case, Ms. Mayor convinced Special 
Magistrate Blanco that the worksheet was relevant to the 2008 assessment of the 
property. Immediately thereafter, based upon the information contained within the 
worksheet and the arguments advanced by Ms. Mayor, Special Magistrate Blanco 
lowered the assessed value of the property by approximately $48,000. This amount 
was in addition to the approximately $32,000 reduction Magistrate Blanco had awarded 
at the close of the hearing that morning, resulting in a total reduction in the assessed 
value of the property of approximately $80,000.' 

The Aftermath 

The Property Appraiser conducted a review of the events surrounding the hearing and 
concluded that "the value of the property may have been improperly changed through 
consideration of ex parte information provided to the special magistrate after the case 
was heard." (See December 16, 2008 memorandum of the Property Appraiser, 
attached as Exhibit 2.) In addition, the memorandum requested that Special Magistrate 
Blanco's findings be set aside and the preliminary 2008 valuation as calculated by the 
Property Appraiser be reinstated. Pursuant to that request, Special Magistrate Blanco 
reinstated his initial decision regarding the property, reducing the assessed value by 

j Special Magistrate Blanco accomplished this by Changing the decision he had earlier logged in the 
computer located in the hearing room. Pursuant to V AB practice. the property owners are informed of 
final decisions by mail, not immediately at the close of their hearing. 
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$32,000, thus negating any additional tax benefits or other preferential treatment the 
owners may have received as a result of the conduct of Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia. 

In addition, the Clerk of the Courts reviewed Ms. Mayor's conduct and determined that 
she had acted beyond the scope of her professional duties and responsibilities in 
contravention of standing VAB policies and procedures; she was terminated from her 
employment. Mr. Garcia has been relieved of duty with pay by the Property Appraiser 
pending the completion of its review of his conduct. Mr. Ferrao has received 
counseling from the Property Appraiser for his actions. Special Magistrate Blanco has 
been suspended from conducting V AB hearings pending the V AB 's review of this 
matter. 

Interviews of the Property Owners 

One of the property owners stated that he first met Ms. Mayor five years ago when he 
filed a petition for a V AB hearing. He stated that she has always been very helpful and 
friendly in her dealings with him. Neither he nor the co-owner had any contact with 
Ms. Mayor that was not related to her professional duties. 

When the property owners decided to seek an informal conference with the Property 
Appraiser, they again met with Ms. Mayor, because she had been helpful in the past. 
By personally meeting with the property owners, Ms. Mayor allowed them to bypass 
the regular channels established by the V AB to assist other taxpayers. They also spoke 
to her after the conclusion of the hearing and thanked her for her assistance. Both 
property owners stated, under oath, that they have never given Ms. Mayor any gifts or 
gratuities. 

Interview of Haydee Mayor 

In response to questioning by OIG Special Agents, Ms. Mayor swore under oath that 
she first met one of the property owners when he came to the V AB to file a petition on 
a property approximately three years ago. Ms. Mayor also swore that she did not know 
the co-owner of the property. She admitted that in August 2008, the property owner 
contacted her for her personal assistance in connection with his claim that his property's 
tax assessment was too high. Ms. Mayor also admitted that she escorted him to the 
Property Appraiser's office and introduced him to Mr. Garcia. 

Ms. Mayor also admitted that she engaged in further communications with Mr. Garcia 
about the property before the scheduled VAB hearing. First, approximately two weeks 
before the hearing, Mr. Garcia advised her that new calculations had been made 
regarding the building located on the property, so that the Special Magistrate needed to 
be informed of the new information. Second, on the morning of December 5th, Ms. 
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Mayor and Mr. Garcia further discussed the case over coffee before the hearing. Ms. 
Mayor then met the property owner in the hall outside of Hearing Room C, then 
entered the hearing room and made arrangements to assure that the property owner's 
case would be heard before the cases of other taxpayers scheduled for that day. 
Finally, Ms. Mayor admitted that her duties on December 5th did not require her to be 
in Hearing Room C. Nevertheless, after the hearing, the property owners asked her to 
find out what decision Special Magistrate Blanco had reached. She learned that the 
assessed value of the property had been reduced by $32,000 and conveyed that 
information to them, contrary to V AB procedure. Ms. Mayor then informed Mr. 
Garcia that the property owners had expected a larger reduction amount. She obtained 
a copy of the worksheet from Mr. Garcia and provided it to Mr. Ferrao. Ms. Mayor 
further admitted that after all of the day's hearings were concluded, she re-entered 
Hearing Room C-after having requested that the video recording function for the room 
be turned off-and urged Special Magistrate Blanco to award a larger reduction in 
assessment on the property. 

Ms. Mayor acknowledged that her conduct was in violation of her professional 
responsibilities and duties, but denied that the property owners had given her any gifts 
or money for her assistance. Rather, Ms. Mayor told the OIG that she interceded on 
behalf of the property owners because she is a nice person. 

Interview of Jesus Garcia 

In response to questioning by OIG Special Agents, Mr. Garcia swore under oath that 
Ms. Mayor is a very close friend of his, and described their relationship as "filial." He 
admitted that at her request, he became involved in the property owners' case even 
though it was not assigned to him. Nevertheless, Mr. Garcia maintained under oath 
that his actions concerning the proposed re-assessment of the property were based on 
his independent professional judgment. Mr. Garcia denied receiving anything of value 
from either the property owners or Ms. Mayor in connection with his conduct. 

Mr. Garcia admitted that the worksheet he caused to be prepared was not of the type 
commonly introduced at a V AB hearing. He also admitted that after the hearing, he 
approached Mr. Ferrao, gave him a copy of the worksheet, informed him that the 
building on the property had been assessed in error, and told him to give the worksheet 
to Special Magistrate Blanco. 6 

Mr. Garcia acknowledged that the Property Appraiser procedures prohibited his 
involvement in a case if a close friend or family member was involved. He stated that 

6 In contrast to the videotape evidence and Ms. Mayor's version of events, wherein she recalled that she 
had actually handed the worksheet to Mr. Ferrao. 
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"[t]he reason that I am in this mess is because of Haydee. If I did not know Haydee, I 
would not be here right now. " 

Interview of Emesto Canet 

Mr. Canet swore under oath that Mr. Garcia informed him that in his opinion, the property 
was assessed at too high a rate because it was designated as office rather than mixed 
use/stores. In support of his position, Mr. Garcia produced a picture of the property 
contained within the building jacket that showed a sign for a video store affixed to one side 
of the building. Mr. Canet stated that he then conducted a drive-by inspection of the 
property, confirmed the existence of the sign, and then changed the designation for the 
property to mixed use/stores. 

Mr. Canet admitted under oath that his inspection of the building failed to comport with 
approved Property Appraiser procedures. He also admitted that he failed to discuss the 
status of the building with his predecessor evaluator. Finally, Mr. Canet admitted that 
as a result of his actions, the Property Appraiser's office generated the worksheet later 
used by Mr. Garcia and Ms. Mayor on December Sili. Mr. Canet stated that the 
Property Appraiser staff originally generated a version of the worksheet that was dated 
for 2009, based on a default setting in the computer. After Mr. Garcia reviewed the 
worksheet, he requested that the date be changed to 2008 so that it could be used at the 
hearing. 

Interview of Derick Ferrao 

Mr. Ferrao stated under oath that both Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia are friends of his, 
although they do not socialize outside of work. Approximately two weeks before the 
V AB hearing. Mr. Garcia met with Mr. Ferrao and discussed the subject property, 
which was assigned to Mr. Ferrao's board. According to Mr. Ferrao, Mr. Garcia told 
him that the Property Appraiser intended to fe-assess the property for the 2009 tax 
year, and that Mr. Garcia handed him the worksheet and told him to present it at the 
hearing. Mr. Ferrao explained that he considered the worksheet to be irrelevant 
because he believed that he could defend the assessed value of the property based on 
comparable sales. 

Mr. Ferrao also stated under oath that upon completion of the hearing on December Sili, 
Mr. Garcia asked him to step outside Hearing Room C. Mr. Garcia then inquired 
whether Mr. Ferrao had presented the worksheet, and Mr. Ferrao responded that he 
had not. Mr. Ferrao explained that Mr. Garcia emphatically informed him that the 
worksheet was relevant for 2008, so that he would be remiss in his duties if he failed to 
provide it to Special Magistrate Blanco. Mr. Ferrao admitted that he then re-entered 
the hearing room and presented the worksheet to Special Magistrate Blanco. He 
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acknowledged that all business is supposed to be conducted in front of the parties but 
because the worksheet "was in the taxpayers' favor," he did not believe he made a 
prohibited ex parte communication. 

Interview of Special Magistrate Blanco 

In a sworn statement provided to the OIG, Special Magistrate Blanco stated that he recalled 
that on the afternoon after the VAB hearing, Ms. Mayor approached him with a copy of the 
worksheet that had been proffered to him by Mr. Ferrao after the hearing. After reviewing 
the videotape of his conference with Ms. Mayor, Special Magistrate Blanco stated that it 
was clear to him that Ms. Mayor was advocating on behalf of the property owners. Special 
Magistrate Blanco admitted that it was an error in judgment to have listened to Ms. Mayor 
and to have allowed her to influence him to change his initial decision. However, Special 
Magistrate Blanco did not consider his communications with Mr. Ferrao and Ms. Mayor to 
be ex parte in nature; Mr. Ferrao approached him "on the record" and while Ms. Mayor 
did not, he did not view her as acting in an official capacity. 

Special Magistrate Blanco also stated under oath that he had not been offered or given 
anything in return for his actions. Special Magistrate Blanco acknowledged that he had 
performed a real estate closing for Ms. Mayor and her husband in 2004-for which 
they still owed him $200-$400-but that relationship had no bearing on his actions. 

During the week following the hearing, Special Magistrate Blanco was contacted by the 
attorney for the V AB. They discussed the facts surrounding the hearing and he agreed 
to change his decision on the assessed value of the property back to his initial finding. 

Interview of the Attorney for the VAB 

The attorney for the V AB confirmed that after he learned of the events of December 5'" 
from VAB supervisory personnel, he had a conference with Special Magistrate Blanco, 
which resulted in the reinstatement of Special Magistrate Blanco's initial decision 
reached during the V AB hearing. The attorney also stated that in his opinion, Mr. 
Ferrao's communications after the hearing with Special Magistrate Blanco-wherein 
Mr. Ferrao provided the worksheet for additional consideration-was ex parte in nature 
because the representative of the Property Appraiser was a party to the hearing, but the 
property owners were not present. For the same reasons, the attorney did not consider 
Ms. Mayor's communications with Special Magistrate Blanco to be ex parte, since the 
V AB was not a party in the case, and Ms. Mayor as a Clerk of the Courts employee 
works on behalf of the V AB. 
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RESPONSE TO THE DRAFT REPORT & OIG COMMENT 

This report, as a draft, was provided to Ms. Mayor, Mr. Garcia, Mr. Canet, Mr. 
Ferrao, Mr. Blanco, the property owners of Folio No. 01-3134-051-0750, Clerk of the 
Courts Harvey Ruvin, Property Appraiser Pedro J. Garcia, and the V AB, through its 
attorney, for their discretionary written responses. The OIG received responses from 
the Property Appraiser, Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia, which are attached as Appendices 
A-C, respectively. We appreciate receiving the responses. 

In its response, the Property Appraiser stated that its own review and research "concurs 
with the findings of [the OIG] investigation and draft report. The Property Appraiser 
also stated that it has now counseled its staff regarding the issues addressed in the draft 
report, and has taken appropriate disciplinary actions. 

In her response, Ms. Mayor questioned the credibility of various witnesses, including 
her colleague who reported her actions to a supervisor, and the V AB supervisory 
personnel who observed the hearing in real-time on a video monitor and ensured that 
the taping continued. Ms. Mayor admitted that she knew one of the property owners 
and that she had helped him in the past. Finally, Ms. Mayor stated that she was not 
aware of any policies or procedures that she may have violated. She also attached 
what appears to be portions of two recent performance evaluations to her response. 

Mr. Garcia submitted four responses to the OIG. Two responses are addressed to the 
Inspector General from Mr. Garcia. One response is submitted by Mr. Garcia's 
attorney. The last response is addressed to the Clerk of Court but states that it serves 
as Mr. Garcia's response to the OIG draft report. All four are included in Appendix C. 

Collectively, Mr. Garcia begins his response by impugning the investigative 
competence of the OIG. In the balance of his response, Mr. Garcia discussed various 
factors that he stated were relevant to a proper appraisal of the property. We note that 
the factors described by Mr. Garcia are not reflected on the worksheet he caused to be 
prepared. Similarly, Mr. Garcia did not cite those factors when he was questioned by 
Special Agents of the OIG. Mr. Garcia also provided documents in support of his 
claim that one of the property owners was actually directed to an appropriate Property 
Appraiser staffer, rather than himself. However, those documents bear a different folio 
number. In addition, their contents reveal that they relate to the assessment of the 
property's parking lot, rather than the building itself. 

Upon review of the responses received from the Property Appraiser, Ms. Mayor and 
Mr. Garcia, we do not believe that material changes to the draft report were necessary. 
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CONCLUSIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS & OIG REQUESTED FOLLOW-UP 

The OIG's investigation has determined that between August 2008 and December 2008, 
Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia improperly advocated on behalf of the property owners, 
both before and after a V AB hearing, although the investigation uncovered no evidence 
to suggest that either Ms. Mayor or Mr. Garcia acted for pecuniary gain. Ms. Mayor's 
employment was terminated with the Clerk of the Courts in March 2009. The Property 
Appraiser relieved Mr. Garcia of duty with pay pending the completion of its review of 
his conduct, and has counseled Mr. Ferrao for his actions. 

In addition, at the request of the Property Appraiser, Special Magistrate Blanco has 
now reinstated his initial decision regarding the property, thus negating any additional 
tax benefits or other preferential treatment the property owners may have received as a 
result of the conduct of Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia. Special Magistrate Blanco has 
been suspended from conducting VAB hearings pending the VAB's review of this 
matter. 

Nevertheless, we are not convinced that the debacle created by the collective actions of 
the individuals involved, particularly Ms. Mayor and Mr. Garcia, is not susceptible to 
repetition in the future. Accordingly, recommendations were made in our draft report, 
which are reiterated herein. We made a general recommendation that employees of the 
Clerk of the Courts and the Property Appraiser are reminded that lobbying and 
advocating on behalf of V AB petitioners is not only violative of standing policy and 
procedures, it risks compromising the integrity of the VAB's quasi-judicial process. 
The OIG further recommended that the Property Appraiser take immediate steps to 
ensure that all appropriate property inspection procedures are followed when re­
assessment questions are raised, so that only qualified owners benefit from any 
reduction in taxes. Moreover, we now add to our recommendations that the Property 
Appraiser institute safeguards to prevent individual employees from manipulating 
assignments. 

As a follow-up measure to ensure that corrective action(s) are taken, the OIG requests 
that the Property Appraiser and the Clerk of the Courts submit a status report within 60 
days, or on or before August 4,2009, addressing, respectively, the following areas of 
concern: 

1 . What specific disciplinary actions have been taken regarding Property 
Appraiser employees Jesus Garcia, Derick Ferrao, and Ernesto Canet? 
Please provide copies of the Disciplinary Action Reports (OARs) and 
advise of the disposition of each action. 
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2. What steps have the Property Appraiser taken to ensure that, in the 
future, all appropriate procedures are followed when staffers are 
assigned to handle matters throughout the V AB petition and hearing 
process, so as to prevent individual employees from manipulating the 
assignments? 

3. What steps have the Clerk of the Courts taken to ensure that, in the 
future, its employees will be prevented from improperly advocating on 
behalf of property owners? 

IG09-02 
June 3,2009 
Page 16 of 16 



OIG 
FINAL REPORT 

APPENDIX A 
Response from the Property Appraiser 

IG09-02 



May 26,2009 

Mr. Christopher R. Mazzella 
Inspector General 
Office of the Inspector General 
19 West Flagler Street, Suite 220 
Miami, Florida 33130 

Dear Mr. Mazzella: 

RE: OIG DRAFT REPORT - IG09-02 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY 
OFFICE OF THE PROPERTY APPRAISER 

ADMINISTRATIVE DIVISION 

Honorable Pedro J. Garcia 

Property Appraiser 

Thank you for the detailed investigation and documentation surrounding the inappropriate 
behavior and misconduct of certain County employees regarding the petition before the Value 
Adjustment Board for folio 1101-3134-051-0750. The valuation hearing was held December 5, 
2008. 

The Office of the Property Appraiser maintains the utmost level of integrity. We have standing 
policies and procedures, insuring assessments are fair, equitable and in conformance with 
applicable Florida State laws. Our own review and research concurs with the findings of your 
investigation and draft report. We have completed counseling and taken appropriate 
disciplinary actions with our staff. 

Again, we thank you for your investigation, providing insight and expertise in this matter. 

Sincerely, 

~0/-
Pedro J. Garcia 
Property Appraiser 

111 NW lH STREET, SlJITE 710' MIAMI, FLORIDA· 33128 

PHONE: 305-375·4008 • FAX, 305-375-3024 
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Inspector General 
19 West Flagler Street Suite 220 
Miami, Florida 33130 

Re: Ms. Haydee Mayor, a Clerk of the Courts employee, 
Case No.: IG09-02 

May 12, 2009 

Stated below is my response to the 01 G draft report. This investigation began in 
January 2009 up on the request of Property Appraiser Marcus Zais who made allegations 
that I may have improperly communicated with a V AB Magistrate. 

In regards to Mr. Zais accusation that I communicated inappropriately with a 
Magistrate or ex-parte, I respond that it was Mr. Ferrao, an employee of the Property 
Appraiser's office, and personal friend of Mr. Zais who presented the computer printout 
to the Magistrate after the hearing in question had ended and the parties involved had left. 
He omitted on the records, during the hearing process, evidence that in my opinion 
hindered the judicial process. I communicated to the Magistrate the troth. I knew that I 
was on the records. There is no need to hide when a troth is being exposed. 

It is a charade of Pamela, my supervisors, to insinuate that I informed the V AB to 
torn off the audio/video devises so that I could tell the Magistrate that something was 
hidden from him. The V AB has a policy that requires that the clerks assigned to the board 
hearing must inform the department when the hearing begin and when the hearings end 
because many hearings have been conducted without permanent records especially early 
in the morning. My co-workers who are kindly giving me support will testify to this fact 

On the issue of knowing the tax payer, the investigator is correct in his finding. 1 
met this citizen at the V AB window when 1 was "advocating" for the tax payers, in my 
words serving. This man has come to this window for five years to appeal his case to the 
Magistrate and his value has been reduced many times. Mr. Zais does not advocate for 
the tax payers who come to his office during the interview period that is why this year 
100,000 thousands people have filed for appeals, last year 80,000 and before more than 
60,000 tax payers, Billions of dollars of assessed value have been reduced by magistrates 
during the 3 years that he has been The Assessor to this county. I am glad that the 
investigator conclUded that outside of the work environment, I relate to no one outside 
the work environment 

During my tenure on this department no one has ever insinuated that 1 help 
the tax payers for any reason other than service so I take issue with the conclusion of the 
investigator that "I did not take any money for my help". 

About the second paragraph of your recommendations for the V AB, 1 would like 
to let you know that as far as 1 remember, I have not been provided, or am aware of the 
policy and procedure that you mentioned on your report that was violated. 1 do agree with 
your recommendation that the V AB employees need to be provided with a manual stating 
the rules. 

As far as what type of employee I am for this county and this community, I will 
let Pamela and Mr. Alfaro, my supervisors to speak for themselves where both of them 
praise me very well. I am attaching my last three evaluations that clearly state that I have 



always complied with directions of my supervisors and being helpful to the county's 
citizens. My evaluations discredit most of the finding of the investigator that relate to my 
job performance and responsibilities. (1) MS. Mayor conforms to the rules. policies and 
procedures of Miami Dade County. (2) MS. Mayor assists magistrates with finalizing 
decisions or corrections. (3) MS. Mayor Processes reconsideration request. (4) MS. 
Mayor is a back-up roaming clerks. 

s 

,-"""",uee Mayor 

cc. Honorable Harvey Ruvin. (Clerk of Court) 
Honorable Pedro Garcia (property Appraiser) 



flATER'S OVERALL EVALUATION - Only one rating factor to be checked. 

CJ Unsatisfactory: Performance is inadequate and must be corrected. 

o Needs Improvement: 

::J Satisfactory: 

2t Above Satisfactory: 

Performance does not fully meet job requirements as indicated below. 

Employee Is performing as required and expected in a satisfactory manner. 

Performance surpasses job requirements. 

CJ Outstanding: Consistently conspicuous. distinguished performance. Employee displays iniliatiYe and creativity. 
Employee has substantially enhanced departmental efficiency andlor effectiveness. 

If an employee is eligible for a merit increase, check following: [J. Granted o Deferred, ree~aluate in :....-- months 

If an employee is eligible for permanent status, check following: 0 Granted 0 Denied 0. gxtended __ months 
with the Employee's written permission. (AUached) (Probationary period may not be extended beyond one year.) 

WAYS THE EMPLOYEE CAN OR MUST IMPROVE PERFORMANCE: (If overall rating is Needs Improvement or Unsatlsfactory,a wrilten 
plan of action tor improvement must be included in this section. Optional if Satisfactory or beUer). 

ThiS report is based on my observations, knowledge of employee's performance and review of applicable information. It represents my best 
judgment of Ihe emp!oy~~~erformance. 

RATER'S SIGNATUR; • .1 <, q, r\ ,--l?.,. ,-a,._ .. , 
Pamela Lawhorn-Schwalm 

DATE_N_o_v_._l_2,_2_0_0_8 __ __ 

Court Operations OtT. I 
Print Name TITLE 

I have reviewed this report and discussed it w~he rater. It represents an accurate appraisal of the employe~'s performance in accordance 
with Administrative Order. J concur i~e relomp,endation, If any, as to merit raise and/or permanent status. 

REVIEWER'S SIGNATURE /lj.( J DATE N~.: 12, 2008 

Roberto Alfaro f fA V AB Manager 
Print Name: \ TITLE 

! acknowledge thai I receIved a copy of this evaluation. I have had an opportunity to discuss it with my supervisor. In s1gning the evaluation, 
! do not necessarily agree with the conclusions. I understand that I may write my comments below or on another sheet of paper. 

A permanent employee who has received an overall evaluation of "Unsatisfactory" or "Needs Improvement," must f!~st request a review 
of the Performance Evaluation by the Department Director within ten (10) calendar days. If the decision of the Directorj.s~nol acceptable to 
the emplcyee, the employee may continue the appeal Withi2 ten (1,9 ) c~endar days after receipt 01 the Director's decision by~making a request 
in writing to the Personnel Division Director, of the i!P! y~~, ~e~t~pns Department. T'~ 

I have read and understand the above appeal process. L r... '! .~~ lco 

EMPLOYEE COMMENTS: 

/ 
/ 

I 
" 

'\. '// // 
~.---­

EMPLOYEE'S SIGNATURE ---=b~1-:o>"-=====:":::-------- DATE: -H-+I-:-':I+Eh.?----
IOB.(l1-6A 2192 

DISTRIBUTION: White copy to employe reen copy to Personnel - Yellow copy to departmental personnel office - Blue copy to reviewer. 
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\ _ J QI Merit Raise ~ Slatus Change - Annual Review :: Other 'l Due Back to Personnel Section by 

Raters: It is underslood that the importance of each category will vary with job classification and department. Explain your rating in terms 
of performance in each category_ Mark the appropriate box. Use additional sheets if necessary. 

1. QUANTITY OF WORK. Includes amount of work performed . 
.. ----< 

RATING: 
Explain Why: 

LJ Unsatisfactory Q Needs Improvement ~ Satisfactory ~ Above Satisfactory _ i Outstanding 
Ms. Mayor's duties during this evaluation period included but were not limited t§!Jhe ' 
following;J2!<lSFssing duplicate filed petitions and cancelled folio letters; back-"!§ 

------r::o::am:::;ic:n::g"c:'il!'i~rk:'%ssistin rna 'strates with finalizin decisions or corrections' assm!in the:'" 
public at the front counter service counter and via telephone; computer entries , c,:' 
verification; and other projects on an as needed basis. ,1) ;: ;0 

, , . i' 

2. QUAUTY OF WORK: Includes accuracy. achievement of objact!ves; eftactivaness, initiative and resou'eAfUln~and. neatness 
of work product. _ -).,."'.: 

RATING: C Unsatisfactory C Needs Improvement Ci Satisfactory S Above Satisfactory lX! Outstanding 
Explain Why: 

Ms. Mayor's attention to detail enables her to complete her assignments in an effective 
and organized manner. This also provides a professional quality to the fmished work 
product. 

3. WORK HABITS: Includes altendance, observation of work hours. completion of work on schedule, compliance with rules, policies, 
and directives. safety practice and use of tools and equipment. 

RATING: C Unsatisfactory 0 Needs Improvement 0 Satisfactory I !l Above Satisfactory 0 Outstanding 
Explain Why' 

---;~~~ Ms, Mayor confonns to the rules, policies and procedures of Miami-Dade Coun Her 
asslgrunen are comp ete 10 a I1me y manner. 

/\, , ' 

,:,:./ . , 
4. INTERPERSONAL SK1LLS: Includes participation and teamwork: contribution to unit morale; working coo ''h the 

public, peers, and subordinates; 'and accepting advice and",cQunseling from superiors. 

RAnNG: 0 UnsatIsfactory 0 Needs Improvement ·0 Satisfactory ~ AboVe Satisfactory Q'Qutstanding 

Explain Why: M"; Mayor is very atteIJiive 10 the needs of the public and goes the extra mile 10 m~ .' 
sur their needs are met?'She continues to maintain an open line of communication;;itlh 
h . • " er SUpeTVlsors. EPRUDEN 
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"ATIOR'S OVERALL EVALUATION Only one rating factor to be checked. 

,..=; Unsatisfactory: 

L: Needs Improvement: 

CJ Satlsiactory: 

rx Above SatIsfactory: 

o Outstanding: 

Perfor Bnee is inadequate and must be corrected. 

~rmance does notjOlly meet job requirements as indicated below. 
,/ 

/ 

mployee is perior'thing as required and expected in a satisfactory manner. 

Performance surpasses job requirements. 

, i 

Ll 
Consistently conspicuous, distinguished performance. Employee displays lnitiati'Je~d creativity. 
Employee has substantially enhanced departmental efficiency and/or effectiveness. 

If an employee is eligible for a merit increase, check followIng: 0 Granted 0 Deferred, reevaluate in __ months 

It an employee is eligible for permanent status, check following: 0 Granted 0 Denied 0 Extended __ months 
with the Employee's written permission, (Attached) (Probationary period may not be extended beyond one year.) 

WAYS THE EMPLOYEE CAN OR MUST IMPROVE PERFORMANCE: (If overall rating is Needs Improvement Dr Unsatisfactory, a written 
plan of actIon for Improvement ~ust be included in this seclion. Optional if Satisfactory or better). 

ThiS report is based on my observations, knowledge of employee's performance and review of applicable in/ormation. It represenls my best 

ludgmenl of the employ.e's P9/9ra.nce. ~ /J '~~ 
RATER'S SIGNATURE ~~ c:y::..,'£. ,_-~ DATE Nova ttC 27 200l 

! , , 

Print Name PamQ] a La'imorn S!::8uala " TITLE Ca.m:t Q:flecatieFlfl Offie.er 1 

I have reviewed this report and discussed it~h the rater. It represents a~ aecurrte apprail I of the employet3"s.performance In accordance 
with Administrative Order. I concur;a; thy 1ctn~~ndation,.~~\any, as 10 merit raise lor permanent status. 

REVIEWER'S SIGNATURE 0JJ.; /' , DATE NOli_he!' n,...2UJ7 

Print Name: Robirto Alfaro '\Y '/ 
TITLE \ All ,lanage r 

I acknowledge that Lraceived a copy of this evaluation. I have had an opportumty to diSCUSS it WIth my superVlsor:-ln SIgning the evaluation, 
I do not necessarily agree with the conclUsions. I understand that' may write my comments below or on another sheet of paper. 

, \ 

A permanent employee who has received an overall evaluation of "Unsatisfactory" or "Needs Improvement," must nISI request a review 
of the Performance Evaluation by the Department Director within ten PO) calendar days. If the decision of the Directo{i~' not acceptable to 
the employee, the employee may continue the appeal within ten (10) calendar days after receipt 01 the Director's decision tiy making a request 
in writing to the Personnel Division Director, oj the Employee Relations Department. ! 

'/~/ 
I have read and understand the above appeal process. t' '" 

EMPLOYEE COMMENTS: 
f~ ;. , -

EMPLOYEE'S SIGNATURE DATE: L.4c".;=,,+--=-':c-~ 
103.01·61\ 2192 -
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May 12, 2009 

Christopher R. Mazzella O.I.G. 
Inspector General 
19 West Flagler Street 
Suite 220 
Miami, Florida 33130 
Phone: (305) 375-1946 
Fax: (305) 579-2656 

Re: Jesus Garcia, Property Appraiser Income Evaluation Specialist, Miami­
Dade County, Florida 
Case No.: IG09-02 

Gentlemen: 

Someone has been able to convince one of your agents that it is ok to call the 
wrong right and the crooked straight. 

During Michael Auch six-month investigation on the issue of whether someone 
inappropriately communicated with a magistrate. He concluded that a building that the 
property appraiser has been assessing as retail store for the last 60 years should be 
changed into an office building that is worth $132,700 more for 2008 assessment than 
2007 assessment. Putting a side the real estate market condition of course. In 2007 the 
building was assessed based on the cost approach as retail, after the appropriate 
depreciation, that building was assessed at $39.09 pr SQ FT as on office building the cost 
increase to $50.87 per SQ FT. This building value increase dramatically 

Let's analyze the reason that was given to him in order to convince him. First we 
are not going to tell him about the criteria that the Property Appraiser Department (P A) 
hast to use by statutes and later let us take him for a ride and show him that all the tenants 
this year are using the space as office space. Conclusion, the type of tenants determines 
the cost of the building. Next year we have two retail store tenants than the building will 
be classified as retail. 

Let's talk about the cost approach to value which the statutes mandates to be used 
when valuing building. The International Association of assessing officer says "buildings 
are first classified on the basis of the use for which they are designed" there are four basic 
design types Residential, commercial, industrial and rural. The subject in question is a 
commercial type and there are ten different commercial type Store, supermarkets, office 
building, restaurants etc. Once the building type is identified we look into the 
construction type class A. class B and so on Class A is shipper per square foot than a 
class D Structure. And the type ofmater,i$ used and the quality of workmanship 
determine the Class type. According to th~ IAAO "each class remain constant throughout 
the life of the building" 

The Department Of Revenue instructs the P A on how to classify buildings 
because in mass appraisals stratifying properties by class and grade is necessary to 
assessment symmetry. We must compare Apples with Apples and Oranges with Oranges. 



A single family building that is used as an office by a doctor has to be valued as single 
residence building based on the cost approach. A builder will not charge more to build a 
single family residence per square foot that might be able to obtain a variance in zoning 
in the future that the one next door that is the same model and does not have a chance of 
being use as office in the future. I hope that you get the concept of what I am informing 
you. 

Mr. Auch did not mention in his report one important finding. I do not know ifhe 
was presented with a permit history of building alterations that have taken place during 
the last five years. I would like to know if there are architect plans and building permits 
requested by a builder indicating that alterations to this building have been made and that 
the cost to remodel is equal to or in excess of $132,700.00. The building has been altered 
in the last years but I don't know if the alterations were done by the owner or the tenants 
and if buildings permits were requested. Shady constructions can be dangerous especially 
if electrical wiring, and fire exits for emergencies are not done properly. I am requesting 
that the investigator provide Harvey Ruvin, the clerk of court, with these findings. 

Lastly I ask what would have been the out comes of this findings if this building 
was found to be erroneously changed to office building after being corrected by Mr. 
Canet and his supervisor. After all someone requested that a magistrate decision is set 
aside perhaps hastily. 

Ye)Y1fu
ly 

yours, ('~c 
~~ .. ~ 

//~" u: Garcia 

// / Cc. Honorable Pedro Garcia (property Appraiser) 
Y Harvey Ruvin, (Clerk of Court) 
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May 14, 2009 

Christopher R. Mazzella, Inspector General 
Office of the Inspector General 
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of Miami-Dade County 
19 West Flagler Street, Suite # 242 
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Re: Jesus Garcia, Property Appraiser Income Evaluation Specialist, Mi~i. ~ 
Dade County, Florida ,:;, ' .. :' 
Case No.: IG09-02 ~ 

Gentlemen: 

The undersigned has been retained by Mr. Jesus Garcia, a Property Appraiser Income 
Evaluation Specialist with Miami-Dade County, Florida, to respond to your 14·pages 
report dated May 1, 2009 as it concerns Mr. Garcia. At present, Mr. Garcia has been 
relieved of his duties, with pay, pending a review of his conduct concerning the subject 
matter of your report. 

If I understand the gist of the report, Ms. Haydee Mayor, a Clerk of the Courts 
employee, spoke with a property owner who wanted to complain about an increase in 
his 2008 real estate taxes. The property owner spoke to Ms. Mayor because she had 
dealt with him regarding prior years' taxes; and she brought the property owner to the 
seventh floor to see Mr. Garcia. 

Your report concludes that: (1) no evidence of employee corruption as there was no 
reason to suspect the employees received money or other consideration from the 
property owner; (2) Mr. Garcia did not communicate with the Special Magistrate in any 
respect; (3) Mr. Garcia does not know the property owner; (3) none of the County 
employees or the Special Magistrate have personal relations with each other or the 
property owner outside of the work environment; and (4) the property owner was 
interviewed by Mr. Garcia during the interview period at the property owner's request 
to discuss a $132,861.00 increase in his 2008 real estate taxes on the building portion 
of his property despite the fact that he spent approximately $30,000.00 in repairs in 
2007 for which he requested a field inspection of the building. 



Christopher R. Mazzella, Esq. 
Office of the Inspector General 
May 14, 2009 
Page 2 

According to your report, Mr. Canet failed to properly inspect the property and if he 
had done so he would have determined that no error had occurred. That, however, is 
a matter to take up with Mr. Canet because he is the lead worker in a supervisory level 
position. Mr. Garcia is not a supervisor. Mr. Garcia took the proper course of action 
by bringing the problem to Mr. Canet and his supervisor, Darryl Cairn. 

According to your report, Mr. Garcia was not authorized to interview property owners 
who come to the Property Appraiser's Office during the interview period to have their 
assessments reviewed because Mr. Garcia is not listed on the "interview team". Yet 
Mr. Garcia has interviewed property owners during the interview period in person and 
by telephone for the past seven years because his present position requires that he 
assist during the interview period, and his supervisor has directed him to assist 
property owners during the interview period. 

According to the report, two weeks prior to the VAB hearing Mr. Garcia spoke to Mr. 
Derick Ferrao, the property appraiser's employee who was representing the County on 
this property, about the above mentioned findings and informed him that the Special 
Magistrate should know about it. Mr. Garcia provided Mr. Ferrao with the new 
calculations and the pictures taken during field inspection. However, Mr. Ferrao 
considered the worksheet to be irrelevant because "he believed that he could defend the 
assessed value ofthe property based on comparable sales". Instead, he held back the 
worksheet from the Special Magistrate and the property owner, and presented 
comparable sales only at the hearing. 

Mter the hearing, when Mr. Ferrao told Mr. Garcia that he did not submit the 
worksheet, Mr. Garcia expressed his concerns to Mr. Ferrao that it looked like Mr. 
Ferrao was hiding the information and he (Mr. Garcia) wanted no part of it. Mr. 
Ferrao apparently took to heart what Mr. Garcia was saying and presented the 
worksheet to the Special Magistrate who, after reviewing the same, decided it was not 
relevant to his assessment decision. At the VAB hearing, Mr. Ferrao did not present 
the worksheet to either Special Magistrate Manuel Blanco or the property owner. If, 
as the report suggests, Mr. Garcia did something wrong, why didn't Mr. Garcia provide 
the property owner with the worksheet for presentation at the hearing, or after the 
hearing? 

According to your report, Ms. Mayor took it upon herself to discuss the case with the 
hearing officer; however, suffice it to say that there is no indication that Mr. Garcia 
participated in that occurrence and therefore no response is required of him. 
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Based on the foregoing, Mr. Garcia wishes to highlight these important points: 

1. At the time, Mr. Garcia believed that his supervisor re-evaluated the property 
properly and determined that an error had in fact occurred. 

2. In his 19 years with the County he has always taken his job seriously and 
believed he was doing what was best for the property appraiser's office, 
including interviewing property owners during the mandated interview period. 

3. Mr. Garcia's conclusion was that an error had been committed in the valuation 
ofthe property. In such a case, the proper protocol was to provide his findings 
to Mr. Ferrao the property appraiser's employee who was representing the 
County. Mr. Ferrao should have discussed this finding with his supervisor 
instead of dismissing it outright as irrelevant because Mr. Canet, not Mr. 
Garcia, determined that the worksheet was appropriate. At a minimum the 
information should have been provided to the property owner in advance ofthe 
hearing to preserve the integrity ofthe non-partisan interview process. 

In conclusion, irrespective ofthe results of the re-evaluation of the property, Mr. Garcia 
filled Mr. Ferrao in on what had transpired on the file and provided him with the 
worksheet. Mr. Garcia was surprised to learn that Mr. Ferrao did not disclose the 
worksheet to anyone. Mr. Garcia understands the interview process as a non-partisan 
(as opposed to adversarial) procedure whereby the property appraiser's office and the 
property owner meet to review their respective information on a property in the hopes 
of amicably resolving the issues. Mr. Garcia viewed Mr. Ferrao's failure to disclose the 
worksheet as involving him in unethical conduct (because he conducted the interview) 
and Mr. Garcia's subsequent actions were motivated by his attempt to rectify a 
perceived injustice of which he was made a part. 

Of course, if you have any questions or need to clarify anything set forth above with 
Mr. Garcia, please do not hesitate to contact me to schedule a meeting. 

cc: Harvey Ruvin, Clerk of Court 
Pedro Garcia, Property Appraiser 
Mr. Jesus Garcia 

G:\WP\STA1E\Garcia, Jesus, OIG Ltr.2 



May 14,2009 

Harvey Ruvin 

Clerk of the Circuit and County Court, 

Miami-Dade County Courthouse 
~, 
'5i 

-, 

73 West Flagler Street, Suite # 242 

Miami Florida 33130 

Re: o. I. G. Draft Report IG09'()2 

Dear MR. Ruvin 

-:::~ 
--< 

\ 

<P 

With this letter I would like to let you know that a draft report by the Office 01 Inspector 

General has been completed and that the special agent lor the O. I. G. Michael Auch has stated 

his linding and conclusions based on a live months investigation in which he interviewed close to 

ten Dade County employees and reviewed all necessary documents that he requested either in 

written lonm or by subpoena. He might also subpoena access to other information that requires a 

special court order. These issues took place prior to he Honorable Property Appraiser Pedro 

Garcia took office. 

Mr. Michael Auch finding are as follow: 

1. That none of the County employees were found guilt of corruption no money or any 

other considerations was accepted by any of the employees involved in this case. 

2. That Me. Jesus A Garcia did not communicate with a Special Magistrate in any lonm. 

3. That Mr. Garcia does not know the property owner 01 the subject in question. 

4. That None of the employees of the county or the magistrate have personal relation with 

each other or the tax payer outside the work environment 

5. That the owner 01 a small business in the City of Miami was interviewed by Mr. Garcia 

during the interview period and the owner complaint about an increase 01 $132,861 on 

the building portion 01 his property in 2008 assessment in spite of the fact that he spent 

approximately $30,000.00 in repair in 2007 and that he requested a field inspection 01 

the building. 

6. That Me. Garcia, as per property procedure, handed this case to a supervisor. 

7. That a reviewal the subject property historical record and the field inspection revealed 

that the subject property was built and design in 1948 for retail and warehouse purpose 

and that Ihe property has been classified and assessed by the Property Appraiser 

Department as retail store lor the last sixty years. 

-" c" 'C-
,C 



8. That the reason why this property increased $132,861 was that a Real Estate Evaluator 

had changed for 2008 the Classification of the building from retail store to office and re­

evaluated the property as such increasing the value of the building by $132,861. 

9. That the field inspection requested by the owner and the review by a senior supervisor 

Darryl Nair and Mr. Canet a lead worker of the building section concluded based on the 

subject property historical record that the building original classification was correct. 

10. That the building was reverted to its original classification by the Property Appraiser 

Department as retail store as its being for the last sixty years. The value decreased by 

approximately $80,000.00 that the information was entered in the computer and a 

printout of a worksheet was handed to Mr. Garcia. 

11. That the subject property was scheduled to be heard by a magistrate on December 5, 

2008. 

12. That in November of 2008 Mr. Garcia informed the property appraiser employee who 

was representing the County about the above mentioned finding and informed him that 

the magistrate should know about it. Mr. Garcia provided the new calculations and 

pictures taken during field inspection. 

13. That the employee responsible to defend the value assessment of the subject property 

testified that he did not present the information to the magistrate and that he only 

presented comparable sales as defense. That Mr. Garcia go to the employee 

responsible to defend the value assessment of the subject property while on hearing 

and verified that the computer printout and the Pictures were in the file. 

14. That Mr. Garcia presented text book to the Investigator that explains the Cost Approach 

to Value and the criteria and standards used to classify buildings. 

15, That an employee of the Value Adjustment Board communicated to the Magistrate that 

facts that were necessary to render a correct ruling were excluded. 

16, That this person lost her employment for informing the magistrate about the omitted 

information. 

Mr, Michael Auch conclusions are as follow: 

1. Concludes that a building that was built and designed in 1948 for retail and warehouse 

purpose and that has been classified and assessed by the Property Appraiser 

Department as such based on the cost approach and in conformity with the teaching of 

the International Association of Assessor Officers (I. A. A. 0) for the last sixty years 

should be reassesses in 2008 as office $132,861 doHars higher than the previous 

years. 



2. Concludes that Mr. Garcia is not authorized to interview tax payers who come to the 

Property Appraisers Office during the interview period to have their assessment 

reviewed yet Mr. Garcia has interviewed tax payers during the interview period in 

person and by phone for the past seven years while holding his present position which 

requires that he assist during this period. 

3. Concludes that Mr. Garcia advocates for the tax payers of Miami Dade County. 

4. Concludes that Mr. Garcia might continue to advocate for tax payers who merit a 

correction of their assessesment. 

5. Concludes that an income producing property can be defended by using only The 

Comparable Sale Approach without considering the Cost Approach to Value and the 

Income Approach to Value method. Although the subject is assessed based on the 

Cost Approach to Value and is an income producing property. 

6. Concludes that Mr. Canet made a drive by inspection and did not inspect the interior of 

the building. 

7. Concludes that the decision made by these supervisors to correct the building was 

reverted after the hearing date. 

8. Concludes that Mr. Garcia is able to force Mr. Canet a lead worker in a supervisory 

position to make decisions and produce a document that he and his supervisor did not 

want to produce. 

9. Concludes that if the ruling of the magistrate had not been set a side the tax payer 

would have saved approximately $600.00. The subject property paid $34,748 in taxes 

far the assessment of 2008. 

This letter should serve also as Mr. Garcia response to the O. I. G. draft report and 

should be posted on the O. I. G. website together with his last three performance 

evaluations statinb that he deals with the public. Mr. Garcia's Job descriptions 

include interviewing tax payers. 

u. . cerely Y~f£'M.--<-7/-
~G~i~ 

C. c Pedro Garcia Property Appraiser 



Christopher R. Mazzella. OJ.G. 
Inspector General 
19 West Flagler Street Suite 220 
Miami, Florida 33130 

May 12,2009 

Re: Jesus Garcia, Property Appraiser Income Evaluation Specialist, Miami­
Dade County, Florida 

Case No.: lG09-02 

Dear Mr. Mazzella, 
According to your report, the investigation detennined that in August 2008 a tax 

payer was introduced to Mr. Garcia rather than directing him to the appropriate Property 
Appraiser staffers. (see attached) 

The report also identifies the subject property as a one story structure under one 
folio when in fact the subject is assessed under four different folios. One folio number for 
the building and the other three additional folios are the parking lots for the building in 
question. Folio number: 01-3134-047-0010, 01-3134-047-0020, 01-3134-047-0030 are 
part of the subject and are not mentioned in the report. They were all heard on the hearing 
of December 5, 2009. 

Attached, I am sending you information which demonstrates that on September 9, 
2008, not August, the tax payer was directed to the appropriate Property Appraiser staffer 
where he formerly requested an interview and a field inspection of his property. The 
interview form was created by the greeting clerk on the 8th floor; her name is Gwendolyn 
Smith. She created the Public Service Request under folio 01-3134-047-0010, one of the 
folios for the parking lot of the subject. An evaluator inspected the property up on 
request. 

Sir, the purpose of any investigation is to find the truth. The OIG is under your 
watch so that makes you !he herald for the truth which is needed for justice. Justice is 
under the watch of Harvey Ruvin who needs the truth to render judgment. 

I am requesting that the investigator provide Harvey Ruvin, the clerk of court, 
with the reasons why the subject property is not correctly identified and why the Public 
Service Request that clearly demonstrates that the owner was directed to the appropriate 
Property Appraiser staffers was not mentioned in the report. 

~/ c. ~
eIY. yyours, ~ , 

sUarcia 

Cc. Honorable Pedro Garcia (property Appraiser) 
Harvey Ruvin, (Clerk of Court) 
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Public Service Request # 81059 Date Submitted 09/09/2008 10:31:40 AM Initiated by SET 

Please Respond By Ikll =====lJ11 

Folio 0131340470010 II District Commercial Tax Year(s) 2008 

Taxpayer ISRO ENTERPRISES INC EmaillPhone 786-3265509 

R from Interview and initiated by SET 

Reason for Request Interview NIA 

Attachments 
NIA 

Taxpayer Comments 
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R from Correspondence and initiated by AGA 

Reason for Request Public Records N/A 

Attachments 
N/A 
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agendas heard mentioned below: 

~ 

Existing Comments 

1**01108/20090] :26:00 PM---AGA (JULIE CLARK ALMEIDA) PsrComment ---08-09827 01-3134-05 
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and invoice. ** 
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Folio Number: 01-3134-051-0750 Property Address: 2141 nw 7 St. 
Year: 2008 

Year Building Rate Key Sq.Ft. Base Points Rate Amount Fun Eco Phy Mkt %Gd Adjust Items Total 
1948 1 1 6053 0.480 124 59.52 360,275 0.65 0.65 126,096 1 234,179 
1960 1 2 5034 0.480 118 56.64 285,126 0.71 0.71 82,687 1 202,439 
1968 1 3 197 0.480 118 56.64 11,158 0.79 0.79 2,343 1 8,815 

0.00 0 0 0 1 0 
0.00 0 0 0 1 0 

1948 XlF 4 27 1500.00 1 1500.00 40,500 0.65 0.65 14,175 1 26,325 
1948 XlF 96 9700 1.50 1 1.50 14,550 0.65 0.65 5,093 1 9,458 
1969 XlF 136 440 4.00 1 4.00 1,760 0.80 0.8 352 1 1,408 
1969 XlF 97 768 3.50 1 3.50 2,688 0.80 0.8 538 1 2,150 
1982 XlF 4 4 1500.00 1 1500.00 6,000 0.92 0.92 480 1 5,520 
1987 XlF 38 180 11.00 1 11.00 1,980 0.94 0.94 119 1 1,861 
1987 XlF 80 1 1350.00 1 1350.00 1,350 0.94 0.94 81 1 1,269 

0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 a 
0.00 a a a 1 0 
0.00 a 0 0 1 0 
0.00 0 0 a 1 0 
0.00 0 0 a 1 0 
0.00 0 0 0 1 0 
0.00 a 0 0 1 0 
0.00 a 0 0 1 0 
0.00 0 0 0 1 0 
0.00 a 0 0 1 0 
0.00 0 0 a 1 0 

$493,424 

ICalculated by: I Date: I Total: 1 $493,4241 

I Reviewed by: IDate: ITotal: 1 



- .' .. 

OIG 
FINAL REPORT 

EXHIBITB 

1009-02 



• " < M d MIAMI .• emtlran urn ~ . 
Date: 12116/2008 

To: Robert Alfaro 
Manager 
Value Adjustment Board 

From: Manuel C. Pernas 
Appeals Division Director 
Miami-Dade County Property Appraiser 

Subject: Agenda08-Q9827, Folio 01-3134-051-0750 
< . , 
f" ' ,;.c. ' 

~n 

LJ 

U1 CD 
, :-g N 

The subject property, folio number 01-3134-051-0750, is a one story office building lo&telT'at 721 
NW 2 I" Court, Miami, owned by Isro Enterprises Inc. Its preliminary 2008 assessmentwas 
$1,100,063. It was petitioned under value agenda number 08-09827, and heard on the 12/05/2008 
"C" value board, presided by special magistrate Mr. Manuel Blanco, Esq. The Property Appraiser 
representative was Mr. Derick Ferrao. 

It is our understanding the value of the property may have been improperly changed through the 
consideration of ex parte infonnation provided the special magistrate after the case was heard. 

This memorandum is based on the use of a worksheet, submitted ex parte, allegedly presenting 
recommended changes for the subject's building value for 2009, and also in ex parte 
communications between the special magistrate and Haydee Mayor, an employee of the Value 
Adjustment Board. . 

As a result of the ex parte infonnation provided to the special )llagistrate, we believe he may have 
improperly reduced the property's value. • 

I . 
Based on the foregoing, the Property Appraiser respectfully requests the fmdings for agenda number 
08-09827, folio number 01-3134-051-0750, on the 12/05/2008. "C" value board, be set aside, and the 
preliminary 2008 valuation be upheld and reinstated. . 

. 
cc: Han. Marcus Saiz:pe La Mora, Property Appraiser ' . 

Mr. William G. Oliver, Senior Deputy Clerk of the Courts! . 
Mr. Steven Schultz, Esq., V AB Counsel ./' I 
Mr. Manuel Blanco, Esq., Special Magistrate i . 
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